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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Trustees
Ecumen and Subsidiaries
Shoreview, Minnesota
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Ecumen and Subsidiaries,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related
consolidated statements of changes in net assets without donor restrictions, changes in net assets, and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Board of Trustees
Ecumen and Subsidiaries

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Ecumen and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Other Matters
Disclaimer of Opinion on Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
as a whole. The management’s discussion and analysis on pages 3-8, which is the responsibility of
management, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the
consolidated financial statements. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on it.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 15, 2019
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Executive Overview
Ecumen (the Organization), headquartered in Shoreview, Minnesota, is one of the largest senior living
providers of senior housing and services in Minnesota and surrounding states. Ecumen is a 501(c)(3)
organization affiliated with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA).
The Organization’s mission is to create home for older adults wherever they choose to live. The
Organization is constantly evaluating how to use its resources to grow and best serve the senior market
and fulfill its nonprofit mission. Since 2003, Ecumen has been diversifying its portfolio – especially
adding more independent living options and at-home services. Customer demand for independent living
has been growing rapidly as the current wave of Baby Boomers retires, while overall demand for
nursing home care is declining. Increasingly, seniors want to live in their own homes as long as
possible, and Ecumen is being responsive to this shift in consumer attitude. As Ecumen continues to
diversify, it will continue to operate nursing homes and assisted living and memory care communities,
but the mix of business is changing based on the markets in which we operate. As a result of these
initiatives, the Organization added approximately 1,300 units of market rate assisted and independent
living offerings and reduced its nursing home beds by 962 units since 2003. As of December 31, 2018,
the Organization now has 1,633 stabilized market rate housing units with another 134 units that have
not yet reached stabilization, and 342 skilled nursing home beds, of which approximately one-third are
transitional care or premium pay beds.
The Organization sold a nursing home and market rate housing project in Chisago City, Minnesota and
a nursing home and market rate housing project in Alexandria, Minnesota in December 2017.
Proceeds from the sale were used to reduce debt and will allow Ecumen to strategically reinvest in the
remainder of its portfolio and support diversification to meet changing customer needs. These sales
resulted in a reduction of 184 nursing home beds and 61 market rate housing units.
The Organization also began developing cooperative senior housing in 2015 under the Zvago brand
name and has several projects in various stages of planning and development. The cooperative
projects will be managed by Ecumen and will provide exposure to a younger demographic. The
cooperatives will also serve as a valuable referral source to Ecumen’s housing with services
communities should a higher level of care be needed. The Organization opened its first 54 unit
cooperative project located in Glen Lake, Minnesota in April 2017. Zvago Glen Lake is excluded from
Ecumen’s 2017 consolidated financial statements beginning in April 2017 when control transferred to
the resident member owners upon opening. The Organization began pre-sales on two additional
cooperative projects in 2016, located in St. Anthony and Apple Valley, Minnesota. These projects are
comprised of 49 and 58 units, respectively.

(3)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Executive Overview (Continued)
Financing and construction for these two projects began in 2018 and both of these projects are
expected to open in 2019. These two cooperative projects are included in Ecumen’s 2017 and 2018
consolidated financial statements and will continue to be included until such time as project
construction is complete and substantially all membership units are sold. At that time, ownership of the
cooperative will be transitioned to the resident member owners and removed from Ecumen’s
consolidated financial statements.
Following is a summary of the change in revenue and unit mix from 2003 to 2018:
Revenue Mix
2018
Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Based Services
Management and Consulting
Totals

31 %
51
3
9
6
100 %

Unit Mix
2003
76 %
10
3
8
3
100 %

2018
13 %
66
21
100 %

2003
57 %
21
22
100 %

Community based services, primarily hospice, and technology will play a much greater role in helping
enhance our customers’ independence by providing them with new and improved choices. The
Organization is working aggressively to expand its private pay and Medicare based home care and
hospice services. Our objective is to deliver these services in every geographic market where we have
a campus or senior housing presence. We opened a Twin Cities hospice agency in 2016 and expanded
into the North Branch, Minnesota and the Owatonna, Minnesota market in 2017 and 2018, respectively.
We are also exploring various partnering opportunities with unrelated organizations to deliver health
care services and pilot and implement health care related technologies that help improve the quality of
life for the seniors we serve. Historically, the Organization relied on third-parties to provide rehabilitation
services to our skilled nursing home customers. In 2019, the Organization will provide these services
using internal therapists.
The Organization provides a full range of third-party development and operational management
services and has greatly expanded its work in 2017 and 2018 with third-party partners who want to
develop and operate senior housing communities. The Organization has several development projects
underway throughout the upper Midwest which will generate additional development revenue and
housing units to the existing managed portfolio, which currently consists of 13 senior housing
communities totaling 1,190 housing units and 4 skilled nursing communities totaling 274 skilled nursing
home beds.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Summary of Financial Results
The following table summarizes our operating revenue, operating EBITDA, and our excess (deficit) of
revenue over expense for 2018 and 2017:
Operating Revenue

$

Operating EBITDA - Before Startups
Operating EBITDA - Startups *
Total Operating EBITDA

$

Operating Income (Loss) - Before Startups
Operating Income (Loss) - Startups *
Total Operating Income (Loss)

$ in 000's
2018
148,168
$

2017
161,926

20,265
(1,666)
18,599

$

$

148
(4,684)
(4,536)

$

(699)
(5,379)
(6,078)

Other Income and Expense - Before Startups
Other Income and Expense - Startups
Total Other Income and Expense

$

325
(162)
163

$

12,267
867
13,134

Excess (Deficit) of Revenue over Expense

$

(4,373)

$

7,056

$

$

20,983
(2,121)
18,862

* Startups represent Abiitan Mill City, Smith & Porter Restaurant and Zvago Co-Ops in both 2018 and 2017 and
also include Hospice in 2017. Included in the 2018 and 2017 startup operating EBITDA and operating loss is $0.8
million and $0.5 million, respectively, of expense related to pre-opening marketing and organizational costs for the
Zvago cooperative projects that is fully reimburseable when financing is completed and ownership passes to the
members.

Revenue decreased by $13.8 million or 8.5% in 2018, to $148.2 million. Skilled nursing homes
contributed $18.7 million of the revenue decrease primarily as a result of the sale of two nursing homes,
located in Alexandria and Chisago City, Minnesota in December 2017. Community Based Service
revenue increased $2.8 million due to the expansion of hospice into the Twin Cites and North Branch,
Minnesota. Management and consulting revenue increased $2.9 million due to continued growth in the
Organization’s third party development and operational management activities.
Operating EBITDA (defined as operating income (loss) excluding interest expense, depreciation, and
amortization) before startups decreased by $0.7 million in 2018. The Organizations startup EBITDA
loss was due primarily to operating expense associated with Abiitan Mill City and pre-opening
marketing and organizational costs at our Zvago cooperative projects.
The Organization reported operating income before startups of $0.1 million in 2018 compared to a loss
of $0.7 million in 2017. Other income before startups declined from $12.3 million in 2017 to $0.3 million
in 2018 primarily due to an $8.8 million gain on the sale in 2017 of the properties located in Chisago
City and Alexandria, Minnesota. Startup other income in 2017 includes $0.7 million of reimbursement
of startup expense for the cooperative located in Glen Lake for which financing was completed in 2017.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Summary of Financial Results (Continued)
The Organization generated cash flow from operating activities of $14.1 million in 2018 compared to an
operating cash flow of $8.1 million in 2017. Unrestricted cash and investments increased from $53.3
million at December 31, 2017 to $55.8 million at December 31, 2018. All of the Organization’s operating
segments had improved operating income in 2018 compared to 2017.

Total Revenue
Total Revenue from continuing operations in 2018 decreased to $148.2 million, or 8.5%, from 2017.
The following table summarizes total revenue by segment:
Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Based Services
Management and Consulting
Total Operating Revenue

$

$

$ in 000's
2018
45,752
$
76,566
4,213
13,299
8,338
148,168
$

2017
64,475
77,201
4,304
10,508
5,438
161,926

% Change
-29.0%
-0.8%
-2.1%
26.6%
53.3%
-8.5%

* Startups represent Abiitan Mill City, Smith & Porter Restaurant and Zvago Co-Ops in both 2018 and 2017 and
also include Hospice in 2017.

Nursing home revenue decreased from $64.5 million in 2017 to $45.8 million in 2018, a decrease of
29.0%. The sale of two nursing homes in December 2017 resulted in the $18.7 million decrease.
Average nursing home occupancy was 92.8% up 1.8% from 2017 occupancy of 89.7%.
Market rate housing revenue decreased by 0.8% from $77.2 million in 2017 to $76.6 million in 2018.
Two market rate housing properties were Included in the sale of the properties in Alexandria and
Chisago City, Minnesota in December 2017. This sale resulted in a reduction in revenue of $3.4
million. This reduction was partially offset by a $1.4 million increase in revenue generated from Abiitan
Mill City and the impact of general rate increases. Average occupancy, excluding the Abiitan Mill City
startup, was 94.2% compared to 94.0% in 2017.
Community Based Service revenue increased by 26.6% to $13.3 million in 2018 primarily as a result of
expansion of Ecumen’s Hospice program in the Twin Cities and North Branch, Minnesota.
Management and Consulting revenue increased from $5.4 million in 2017 to $8.3 million in 2018, an
increase of 53.3%. The increase is due to the timing of recognition of our development fee related to
the Zvago cooperative projects.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Operating Income (Loss)
The Organization reported an operating loss of $4.5 million in 2018 compared to a $6.1 million
operating loss in 2017. The following table summarizes income (loss) from operations by segment:

Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Based Services
Corporate Services (Net of Management and Consulting Revenue)
Total Operating Income (Loss) - Before Startups
Startups*
Total Operating Income (Loss)

$

$

$ in 000's
2018
1,672
$
4,921
(445)
1,702
(7,702)
148
(4,684)
(4,536)
$

2017
1,379
4,629
(523)
31
(6,215)
(699)
(5,379)
(6,078)

* Startups represent Abiitan Mill City, Smith & Porter Restaurant and Zvago Co-Ops in both 2018 and 2017 and
also include Hospice in 2017. Included in the 2018 and 2017 startup operating loss is $0.8 million and $0.5
million, respectively, of expense related to pre-opening marketing and organizational costs for the Zvago
cooperative projects that is fully reimburseable when financing is completed and ownership passes to the
members.

Skilled nursing reported operating income of $1.7 million in 2018 compared to operating income of
$1.4 million in 2017, an increase of $0.3 million. The increase was primarily related to improved
occupancy and leveraging expenses to accommodate occupancy changes.
Market rate housing reported operating income of $4.9 million in 2018 compared to $4.6 million in 2017,
an increase of $0.3 million, primarily as a result of leveraging expenses to accommodate occupancy
changes.
Community Based Services reported operating income of $1.7 million in 2018 compared to an
operating income of $0.1 in 2017. The majority of the improvement was the result of the growth of
hospice in the Twin Cities and North Branch Minnesota
Startup operating income improved by $0.7 million primarily due to improved occupancy at Abiitan Mill
City.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(UNAUDITED)

Financial Condition – Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Organization’s strategic growth and redevelopment has been financed primarily through accessing
the tax-exempt bond market, HUD sourced financings and private bank placements. The equity
required to finance new projects or acquisitions is typically sourced from operating cash flow or through
fundraising efforts. The Organization used cash from operations to fund capital improvements of
$5.7 million and $3.8 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Organization refinanced
approximately $6.2 million and $10.2 million of its outstanding debt in 2018 and 2017, respectively,
which has contributed to improved liquidity and a reduction of $0.1 million in interest cost compared to
2017. The Organization recognized a $0.5 million and $0.9 million loss on debt refinancing in 2018 and
2017, respectively, related primarily to the write-off of prior debt issuance costs as a result of these
refinancing transactions. At December 31, 2018, approximately 78% of our outstanding debt was
financed through long term fixed rate debt, 17% is fixed rate debt subject to interest rate resets, and 4%
of our debt is subject to floating rates. Our average interest rate on average debt was approximately
4.2% in 2018 and 4.3% in 2017.
The Organization sold two skilled nursing homes and two market rate housing properties in 2017.
Proceeds of $9.3 million are included in Assets Limited as to Use and will be used within two years of
the sale date to fund debt service and capital expenditures. Assets limited to use as of December 31,
2018 included $4.1 million of unspent proceeds. Additionally, $5.5 million of proceeds were used to
pay outstanding debt on the sold properties.
Following are some of the key financial numbers and ratios from the Organization’s continuing
operations for 2018 and 2017:

At December 31, $ in 000's
Unrestricted Cash and Investments
Total Indebtedness
Net Assets

$
$
$

$ in 000's
2018
55,827
$
257,264
$
36,318
$

2017
53,286
250,189
41,853

Key Ratios:
Days Cash on Hand
Cash and Investments as a % of Debt
Debt Service Coverage Ratio

145
22%
1.52

126
21%
1.32

Average Interest Rate on Average Debt

4.2%

4.3%

Ecumen’s financial statements are designed to present users with a general overview of the
Organization’s finances and to demonstrate the Organization’s accountability. If you have any
questions about the report or need additional information, please contact the finance department at
Ecumen, 3530 Lexington Avenue, Shoreview, Minnesota 55126
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018

2017

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

$

14,992,156
11,252,587
13,894,149
890,095
41,028,987

$

18,205,056
19,924,024
12,415,240
1,341,087
51,885,407

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Less: Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Noncurrent Assets Limited as to Use

19,017,528
(11,252,587)
7,764,941

32,814,669
(19,924,024)
12,890,645

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

246,827,753

223,696,034

39,282,013
2,422,511
1,050,361
42,754,885

33,292,418
2,724,422
1,163,761
37,180,601

OTHER ASSETS
Investments
Investment in Perpetual Trusts
Notes Receivable, Net
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

$

338,376,566

$

325,652,687

$

9,841,325
2,179,537
29,459,714
41,480,576

$

12,347,126
2,126,415
19,987,180
34,460,721

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt and Capital Leases
Accrued Interest
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
OTHER LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Capital Leases, Less Current Maturities
Other Liabilities
Total Other Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

250,305,934
915,000
9,357,377
260,578,311

241,054,767
1,205,000
7,078,730
249,338,497

29,818,179
6,499,500
36,317,679

33,858,121
7,995,348
41,853,469

338,376,566

$

325,652,687

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018
Amount
REVENUE
Resident Service Revenue
Other Operating Revenue
Total Revenue

$

OPERATING EXPENSE
Other Operating Expenses
Depreciation
Interest and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

2017
Percent of
Revenue

137,924,448
10,243,722
148,168,170

93.1 %
6.9
100.0

129,568,709
12,628,157
10,507,479
152,704,345

87.4
8.5
7.1
103.1

Amount
$

153,797,922
8,128,422
161,926,344

95.0 %
5.0
100.0

143,063,826
13,650,448
11,289,572
168,003,846

88.4
8.4
7.0
103.8

OPERATING LOSS

(4,536,175)

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Net Fundraising Income
Investment Income (Expense)
Loss on Debt Refinancing
Other Expense
Gain on Sale and Acquisition of Property
Total Other Income and Expense

410,731
(1,903,464)
(545,288)
(12,252)
2,213,500
163,227

306,591
4,452,467
(915,410)
(8,880)
9,298,495
13,133,263

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

(4,372,948)

7,055,761

Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

(3.1)

(6,077,502)

333,006
$

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(4,039,942)

309,916
$

Percent of
Revenue

7,365,677

(3.8)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

Net Assets - December 31, 2016

Net Assets
Without
Donor Restrictions

Net Assets
With
Donor Restrictions

$

$

26,492,444

Excess of Revenue over Expense
Gifts and Grants
Change in Investments in Perpetual Trusts
Net Assets Released from Restrictions Operations
Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment

7,055,761
-

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Net Assets - December 31, 2017

1,355,320
273,961

-

(672,663)

309,916

(309,916)

33,841,090
7,055,761
1,355,320
273,961
(672,663)
-

646,702

8,012,379

33,858,121

7,995,348

41,853,469

(4,372,948)
-

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

645,216
(301,911)
(386,440)

(4,372,948)
645,216
(301,911)
(386,440)

-

(1,119,707)

(1,119,707)

333,006

(333,006)

(4,039,942)
$

$

7,365,677

Deficit of Revenue over Expense
Gifts and Grants
Change in Investments in Perpetual Trusts
Net Assets Transferred Due to Sale of Property
Net Assets Released from Restrictions Operations
Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment

Net Assets - December 31, 2018

7,348,646

Total
Net Assets

29,818,179

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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-

(1,495,848)
$

6,499,500

(5,535,790)
$

36,317,679

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018
RECONCILIATION OF CHANGE IN NET ASSETS TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Environmental Expense
Net Gain on Sale and Acquisition of Assets
Loss on Debt Refinancing
Actuarial Adjustment for Gift Annuities
Provision for Bad Debts
Net Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Investments
Contributions and Investment Income Received Restricted
for Long-Term Investment
Change in Current Assets and Liabilities:
Net Cash Acquired
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Other Current Assets
Other Current Liabilities
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

$

(5,535,790)

2017

$

8,012,379

12,628,157
274,019
12,252
(2,213,500)
545,288
23,260
(4,427)
4,247,963

13,650,448
314,495
8,880
(9,298,495)
915,410
23,326
(605,716)
(3,262,207)

(645,216)

(1,355,320)

2,517
(1,585,573)
1,581,408
4,758,400
14,088,758

2,664,366
(1,187,132)
(1,748,339)
8,132,095

(5,672,765)
10,000
113,400
(21,448,429)
11,219,605
(1,932,815)
(629,548)
(18,340,552)

(3,795,825)
8,306,101
10,761
(1,057,056)
2,284,417
300,000
(1,940,823)
(81,514)
4,026,061

585,663
(4,096,781)
(30,860)
(42,405)
4,720,401
(742,340)

(4,284,483)
(30,303)
(42,405)
46,400
(211,039)

645,216
1,038,894

1,355,320
(3,166,510)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(3,212,900)

8,991,646

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

18,205,056

9,213,410

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment
Proceeds from Sale of Property and Equipment
Decrease in Notes Receivable
Purchase of Investments, Including Interest Reinvested
Proceeds from Sale of Investments
Decrease in Assets Under Escrow Agreement
Increase in Assets Under Bond and Mortgage Agreements
Increase in HUD Mortgage Reserve and Escrow Funds
Net Cash (Used) Provided by Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt
Principal Payments of Long-Term Debt
Payment of Financing Costs
Payments to Annuitants
Proceeds from Entrance Fee and Member Share Deposits
Payments of Refunds of Entrance Fee and Member Share Deposits
Contributions and Investment Income Received Restricted
for Long-Term Investment
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(12)

$

14,992,156

$

18,205,056

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Payments for Interest
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY
Fair Value of Assets Acquired
Mortgage Payable Assumed
Gain on Acquisition
Working Capital Acquired:
Accounts Receivable
Other Current Assets
Other Current Liabilities
Net Cash Acquired
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt
Debt Repayment
Funds Used (Deposited Into) Assets Held Under Bond
Indenture Agreement, Net
Payment of Financing and Related Costs
Net Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt
Construction in Progress Included in Accounts Payable

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2017

$

9,931,340

$

11,086,348

$

3,200,000
(767,641)
(2,379,288)

$

-

$

$

$
$

2,748
67,641
(125,977)
2,517

6,075,000
(6,205,000)
526,171
(396,171)
4,616,349

$

$

$
$

-

10,500,000
(10,235,000)
885,000
(1,150,000)
-

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Organization
Ecumen
Ecumen is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation organized primarily to own, operate, manage,
and support senior living and health care communities. Housing and services for seniors
are provided at Ecumen communities through a continuum of care including various levels
of residential living and skilled nursing as well as other community-based programs and
services including home health care and outpatient therapies. Ecumen currently operates
primarily in Minnesota, but also has operations in surrounding states.
Ecumen operates through a number of wholly owned nonprofit subsidiaries and Limited
Liability Companies (LLCs) and is the sole owner of Ecumen Services, Inc., a for-profit
subsidiary which provides management, development and consulting services to unrelated
owners and sponsors of senior housing, skilled nursing, and other senior service
organizations. Ecumen is also the sole member of the Ecumen Foundation, and is the
general and limited partner of NBSH Limited Partnership dba: Uptown Maple Commons,
which are further described below. On January 1, 2018 Ecumen became the sole member
of St. Francis of Assisi, Inc. DBA: Lakeland Shores Apartments, a U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development subsidized housing project as further described below.
As of December 31, 2018, Ecumen and its affiliates owned or leased 41 health care and
other facilities; including 11 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
subsidized housing projects. An additional 17 health care and other facilities were managed
for unrelated third-party owners.
Ecumen’s Board of Trustees is elected by six Minnesota synods of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in America (ELCA).
Ecumen Foundation
Ecumen Foundation, and its two subsidiary foundations (the Foundation), are Minnesota
nonprofit corporations organized to serve the needs of Ecumen for charitable fund
investment, management and administration. The Foundation has been designated by
Ecumen as the entity to receive, invest, manage, and administer charitable gifts given to
any Ecumen organization.
NBSH Limited Partnership dba: Uptown Maple Commons
NBSH Limited Partnership dba: Uptown Maple Commons (the Partnership), was formed
October 28, 1999 as a limited partnership for the purpose of owning and operating a 32-unit
affordable rental housing project in North Branch, Minnesota for seniors and the disabled.
Prior to 2017, Ecumen and North Branch Affordable Housing, Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of Ecumen, were the general partners of the Partnership and held 0.1% of the
Partnership interest. During 2017, US Bancorp Community Development assigned it’s
99.99% limited partnership interest to North Branch Affordable Housing, Inc. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect this change in ownership interest.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Nature of Organization (Continued)
St. Francis of Assisi, Inc. DBA: Lakeland Shores Apartments
St. Francis of Assisi, Inc. DBA: Lakeland Shores Apartments is a 46-unit apartment
complex located in Duluth, Minnesota. The Project is operated under Section 202 of the
National Housing Act and regulated by the United States Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD). Ecumen became the sole member effective January 1, 2018 and
acquired the Project through an assumption of the outstanding mortgage. A summary of
the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed is presented in the supplemental schedule of
noncash activity on page 13 of these financial statements.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of Ecumen,
each of its respective wholly owned subsidiaries and the Partnership. All material
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated organizations are commonly referred to as the Organization
in the consolidated financial statements and comprise the business.
Income Taxes
With the exception of Ecumen Services, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Ecumen and the
Partnership, the Organization has been granted exempt status relative to federal and
Minnesota corporate income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the federal Internal Revenue
Code and applicable state codes.
Income or loss from activities considered unrelated to Ecumen’s tax exempt purpose is
recorded in the accounts of Ecumen Services, Inc. Income taxes for Ecumen Services, Inc.
are recorded at the prevailing statutory rates and are included in operating expense. There
were no income taxes payable at December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
The Organization’s income tax returns are subject to review and examination by federal,
state, and local authorities. The Organization is not aware of any activities that would
jeopardize its tax-exempt status.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the
reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Basis of Presentation
The Organization reports information regarding its financial position and operations
according to two classes of net assets depending on the existence or nature of any donor
restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified
and reported as follows:
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Those resources over which the Organization
has discretionary control.
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Include net assets subject to donor-imposed
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those
that will be met by the passage of time or other everts specified by the donor. Other
donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that the
resources be maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a
restriction expires, that is, when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated
purpose for which the resource has been fulfilled, or both.
Donor restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the same year as the gift is
made are reported as contributions in the statements of changes in net assets without
donor restrictions. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were $6.5 million and $8.0
million of net assets with donor restrictions, respectively.
Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are accrued at estimated fair market
value at the date each promise is received. The gifts are reported as net assets with donor
restrictions if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated
assets. When a donor restriction is satisfied, net assets are released and reported as an
increase in net assets without donor restrictions. Income earned on restricted support,
including realized capital appreciation is recognized in the period earned. Donor-restricted
contributions whose restrictions are met within the same reporting period as received are
recorded as contributions.
Resident Service Revenue
Resident service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Organization expects to be entitled in exchange for providing rent, room charges and
ancillary services to residents of the licensed nursing facilities, senior housing apartments
and related services. These amounts are due from residents, third-party payors (including
health insurers and government programs), and others and includes variable consideration
for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations.
Generally, the Organization bills the residents and third-party payors several days after the
services are performed and housing rental charges are due at the beginning of each month.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied.

(16)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Resident Service Revenue (Continued)
Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the
Organization. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based
on actual charges incurred in relation to total expected (or actual) charges. The Organization
believes that this method provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the
term of the performance obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation.
Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to residents in our facilities
receiving skilled nursing services or residents receiving services in our facilities or in their
homes (home care). The Organization measures the performance obligation from admission
into the facility, or the commencement of an outpatient service, to the point when it is no
longer required to provide services to that resident, which is generally at the time of
discharge or completion of the outpatient services. Revenue for performance obligations
satisfied at a point in time is generally recognized when goods are provided to our residents
and customers in a retail setting (for example, gift shop and cafeteria meals) and the
Organization does not believe it is required to provide additional goods or services related to
that sale.
Because all of its performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one
year, the Organization has elected to apply the optional exemption provided in FASB ASC
606-10-50-14(a) and, therefore, is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period.
The Organization determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods
and services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors,
discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the Organization’s policies,
and/or implicit price concessions provided to residents. The Organization determines its
estimates of contractual adjustments based on contractual agreements, its policies, and
historical experience. The Organization determines its estimate of implicit price concessions
based on its historical collection experience.
Agreements with third-party payors typically provide for payments at amounts less than
established charges. A summary of the payment arrangements with major third-party payors
follows:
Medicaid
The licensed nursing facilities participate in the Medicaid program that is administered by
the Minnesota Department of Human Services (DHS). Medicaid and private paying
residents are classified into one of 48 Resource Utilization Groups (RUG) for purposes
of establishing payment rates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Resident Service Revenue (Continued)
Medicaid (Continued)
Effective January 1, 2016, nursing facilities are paid under the Value Based Nursing
Facility Reimbursement System (VBR) as approved during the 2015 Minnesota State
Legislative Session. Under the VBR system, care related costs will be reimbursed at
actual cost subject to certain limitations. Other operating costs will be reimbursed using
a pricing model, which results in the rates of these costs being the same for all nursing
facilities in the state. Certain other costs, such as qualifying employer health insurance
costs, will be reimbursed at an external fixed payment rate and will be cost based with
no limitations.
The change to the VBR system also includes a hold harmless provision which protects
nursing home facilities from being paid at rates lower than those in effect December 31,
2015. Nursing facilities will also be protected from significant decreases in rates in a
single year related to care related costs.
By Minnesota Statute, a nursing facility may not charge private paying residents in
multiple occupancy rooms per diem rates in excess of the approved Medicaid rates for
similar services.
Medicare
The Organization owns licensed nursing facilities that participate in the Medicare
program. The home health and hospice agencies operated by the Organization also
participate in the Medicare program.
By Minnesota Statute, a skilled nursing facility which participates in the Medicaid
program must also participate in the Medicare program. This program is administered by
the United States Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).
The Organization is paid under the Medicare Prospective Payment System (PPS) for
residents who are Medicare Part A eligible and meet the coverage guidelines for skilled
nursing facility services (SNFs). The PPS is a per diem price-based system. Annual cost
reports are required to be submitted to the designated Medicare Administrative
Contractor; however they do not contain a cost settlement.
Nursing facilities licensed for participation in the Medicare and Medical Assistance
programs are subject to annual surveys. If it is determined that a nursing facility is not in
substantial compliance with the requirements of participation, CMS may impose
sanctions and penalties during the period of noncompliance, which would have a
negative impact on the revenues of the nursing facility.
The Organization’s home health agencies are reimbursed a prospective amount based
on the level of care required by each patient. This prospective amount is paid
periodically over the episode of care, which spans a 60-day period, starting when the
first billable visit is furnished to a Medicare beneficiary.
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Resident Service Revenue (Continued)
Other
Payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers, health maintenance
organizations, and preferred provider organizations provide for payment using
prospectively determined daily rates.
Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid,
are complex and subject to varying interpretation. As a result of investigations by
governmental agencies, various health care organizations have received requests for
information and notices regarding alleged noncompliance with those laws and regulations,
which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement
agreements. Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future
government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including fines,
penalties, and potential exclusion from the related programs. There can be no assurance
that regulatory authorities will not challenge the Organization’s compliance with these laws
and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or
penalties would have upon the Organization. In addition, the contracts the Organization has
with commercial payors also provide for retroactive audit and review of claims.
Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of
the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated
based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payor, correspondence from the
payor and the Organization’s historical settlement activity, including an assessment to
ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is
subsequently resolved. Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments
become known (that is, new information becomes available), or as years are settled or are
no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. Adjustments arising from a
change in an implicit price concession impacting transaction price, were not significant in
2018 or 2017.
Generally residents who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related
deductibles and coinsurance, which vary in amount. The Organization estimates the
transaction price for residents with deductibles and coinsurance based on historical
experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is
determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and
implicit price concessions. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are
generally recorded as adjustments to resident service revenue in the period of the change.
Additional revenue recognized due to changes in its estimates of implicit price concessions,
discounts, and contractual adjustments was not considered material for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017. Subsequent changes that are determined to be the result of
an adverse change in the Resident’s ability to pay are recorded as bad debt expense.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Resident Service Revenue (Continued)
The Organization has determined that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows are affected by the following factors: payors and service lines.
Tables providing details of these factors are presented below.
The composition of resident service revenue by primary payor for the years ended
December 31 is as follows:
2018
26,552,033
26,424,823
70,704,663
7,940,573
6,302,356
$ 137,924,448

Medicaid
Medicare
Private Pay
Commerical Insurers
Other
Total Resident Service Revenue

$

2017
31,705,981
30,786,728
74,165,154
12,488,682
4,651,377
$ 153,797,922

$

The composition of resident service revenue by service line for the years ended
December 31 is as follows:
2018
45,121,248
75,093,121
4,416,415
13,293,664
$ 137,924,448

Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Bases Services
Total Resident Service Revenue

$

2017
63,375,725
75,948,685
3,975,539
10,497,973
$ 153,797,922
$

The Organization has elected the practical expedient allowed under FASB ASC 606-10-3218 and does not adjust the promised amount of consideration from residents and third-party
payors for the effects of a significant financing component due to the Organization’s
expectation that the period between the time the service is provided to a resident and the
time that the resident or a third-party payor pays for that service will be one year or less.
However, the Organization does, in certain instances, enter into payment agreements with
residents that allow payments in excess of one year. For those cases, the financing
component is not deemed to be significant to the contract.
The Organization has applied the practical expedient provided by FASB ASC 340-40-25-4
and all incremental customer contract acquisition costs are expensed as they are incurred
as the amortization period of the asset that the Organization otherwise would have
recognized is one year or less in duration.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Occupancy Percentages
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, occupancy percentages were as
follows:

Skilled Nursing
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Total

December 31, 2018
Units
Occupancy
342
92.8 %
1,767
90.1 %
580
98.2 %
2,689

December 31, 2017
Units
Occupancy
526
89.7 %
1,828
88.8 %
534
98.9 %
2,888

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the percentage of resident days
covered under the Medicaid program at the Organization’s skilled nursing communities was
37.5% and 39.4%, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the percentage of resident days
covered under the Medicare program at the Organization’s skilled nursing communities was
26.5% and 24.7%, respectively.
Excess (Deficit) of Revenue over Expense
The consolidated statements of changes in net assets without donor restrictions includes a
line entitled the “excess (deficit) of revenue over expense” which is the performance
indicator for the Organization. Changes in net assets without donor restrictions, which are
excluded from excess (deficit) of revenue over expense, consistent with industry practice,
include permanent transfers of assets to and from affiliates for other than goods and
services, unrealized gains and losses on other than trading securities, and contributions of
long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction
were to be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets).
The excess (deficit) of revenue over expense is influenced by the startup of new projects.
For each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Organization has been in
various stages of redeveloping existing properties, and developing, constructing and
opening new senior living projects. The Organization expenses all of the marketing and
other pre-opening costs during the development and stabilization of these projects. Once
the project is open for occupancy, the interest cost and depreciation is also expensed, even
though the project is not fully occupied. The Organization incurred expense in excess of
revenue of approximately $4.8 million and $4.4 million for these projects in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Organization considers all money market accounts and certificates of deposit with
maturity dates of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Certificates of deposit are
stated at cost, which approximates market value.
The Organization places its cash and investments with various financial institutions. At times
such deposits may be in excess of FDIC insurance limits.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Accounts Receivable and Notes Receivable
The Organization carries accounts receivable at the original charge for services rendered
less an estimated allowance for doubtful accounts. An adjustment to the allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded quarterly based on historical collection experience and
management's evaluation of receivables at the end of each quarter. Included in notes
receivable are funds Ecumen advanced to an entity for which Ecumen is the management
agent to cover deficiencies in operating cash flow. This note matures in April 2019. Also
included in the notes receivable is a $1.0 million Note as part of a purchase agreement from
the sale of two Ecumen campus properties in December 2017. This note matures in
January 2021. Both of these notes are secured by guaranty agreements. Payments on
these notes are current and no allowance was deemed necessary at December 31, 2018
and 2017. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the amount due on these notes receivable was
approximately $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively. Accounts receivable are
presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts in the amount of approximately
$1.0 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Assets Limited as to Use
Assets limited as to use include resident funds and deposits held in trust, assets held by
trustees under bond and mortgage indenture agreements, assets held under HUD
mortgage agreements, and assets reserved for workers’ compensation claims. Assets
limited as to use that are required for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported
as current assets.
Under the various HUD regulatory agreements, the HUD entities are required to make
deposits into restricted escrow and reserve for replacement accounts. HUD projects are
required to deposit any surplus cash from operations into a residual receipts account. All
disbursements from the reserve for replacement and residual receipts account require
proper written approval from HUD.
Assets limited as to use are primarily invested in cash and cash equivalents, certificates of
deposit and guaranteed investment contracts which are valued at cost on the consolidated
balance sheets.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment with an original cost at or above two thousand dollars are recorded
at cost for purchased assets or fair market value at date of receipt for donated assets.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the asset.
Construction in progress costs are deferred until the projects are completed and placed into
service at which time these costs are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Interest Capitalization
Interest costs incurred on borrowed funds during the period of construction of capital assets
are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those assets, and depreciated over
the estimated useful lives by the straight-line method of depreciation. Interest costs of $0.2
million and $-0- million have been capitalized as a component of property cost for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Investments
Investments are primarily invested in marketable equity securities, fixed income securities,
mutual funds, and United States Treasury Bills. Investments are classified as trading
securities and are carried at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses
included in the excess (deficit) of revenue over expense performance indicator.
Unrealized gains and losses on temporarily donor restricted investments, other than
perpetual trusts, are reported as net assets with donor restrictions. To the extent that
unrealized losses related to perpetually restricted investments exceed unrealized gains the
amount of this excess will be reported in net assets without donor restrictions. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identification method.
Investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market
volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably
possible that change in the values of investments will occur in the near term and that such
changes could be material.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Organization categorizes its assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a threelevel hierarchy based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique used to
determine fair value. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3). If the inputs used in the determination of the fair value
measurement fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the categorization is based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assets and liabilities
valued at fair value are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as
follows:
Level 1 – Inputs that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Organization has the ability to access.
Level 2 – Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Fair values for these
instruments are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar
characteristics, or discounted cash flows.
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically
based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Organization may remeasure the carrying value of
assets and liabilities measured on a nonrecurring basis to fair value. Adjustments to fair
value usually results when certain assets are impaired. Such assets are written down from
their carrying amounts to their fair value.
Professional standards allow entities the irrevocable option to elect to measure certain
financial instruments and other items at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
The Organization has not elected to measure any existing financial instruments at fair
value. However, the Organization may elect to measure newly acquired financial
instruments at fair value in the future.
Refundable Entrance Fee Payable
Abiitan Mill City requires housing entry fees for admittance into the independent living units.
The entrance fee deposit amounts vary depending on the unit being rented and are 100%
refundable upon re-occupancy of the vacated unit. Refundable housing entry fees were
$9.2 and $7.0 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and are included in
other liabilities except for the estimated current portion of $.8 million which is reported in
other current liabilities.
Charitable Gift Annuities Payable
The Organization has a gift annuity program whereby donors may contribute assets to the
Organization in exchange for the right to receive a fixed dollar annual return during their
lifetime. A portion of the transfer is considered to be a charitable contribution. The
difference between the amount provided for the gift annuity and the present value of the
liability for future payments is recognized in accordance with the donor’s intentions at the
date of the gift as specified by the donor. The Organization uses published mortality rate
tables adopted by the United States Internal Revenue Service. The annuity liability is
revalued annually based upon computed present values. Total charitable gift annuities
payable was $0.4 million at both December 31, 2018 and 2017. The current portion of gift
annuities payable as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was approximately $50,000, and is
included in Other Current Liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Real Estate Taxes
The real estate owned by the Organization related to providing licensed skilled nursing care
has been exempted from ad valorem property taxes by the state of Minnesota and its
political subdivisions. Property used by the Organization for other purposes is not generally
exempt from ad valorem property taxes.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Asset Retirement Obligations
Asset retirement obligations represent obligations to dispose of assets that are legally
required to be removed at a future date. They are recorded at the net present value using a
risk-free interest rate and inflationary rate. Asset retirement obligations are recorded as
Other Liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Other Operating Revenue
Other operating revenue consists primarily of additional services that are provided to the
residents and other members of the senior population primarily in the state of Minnesota and
surrounding states, including North Dakota. These services include home delivered meals,
outreach services, vending and other miscellaneous services.
Contributed Services
The Organizations receive a substantial amount of services donated by volunteers. No
amounts have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements for those services.
Advertising Expenses
Advertising expenses approximated $1.3 million and $1.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Advertising costs are expensed when incurred.
New Accounting Pronouncements – ASU 2016-14
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Organization adopted a provision of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 201614, Presentation of Financial Statements for Not-For-Profit Entities. This new accounting
standard results in a reduction of three classes of net assets (unrestricted, temporarily
restricted, and permanently restricted) to two (net assets with donor restrictions and net
assets without donor restrictions), expands reporting of expenses by nature and function,
and requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures about the Organization’s liquidity and
availability. The adoption of this accounting standard did not have an impact on the
Organization’s financial position or changes in its net assets.
New Accounting Pronouncements – ASU 2014-09
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Organization adopted a provision of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 201409, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The guidance requires the Organization to
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Organization expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The guidance also requires expanded disclosures relating to the
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers. Additionally, qualitative and quantitative disclosures are required regarding
customer contracts, significant judgments and changes in judgments, and assets recognized
from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract. The adoption of this accounting standard did not
have an impact on the Organization’s financial position or changes in its net assets.
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NOTE 1

ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
New Accounting Pronouncements – ASU 2016-02
FASB issued ASU 2016-02 in February of 2016 pertaining to the recording of leases. The
standard will not be effective for the Organization until the year ending December 31, 2019,
early adoption has not been exercised. Implementation of the new standard can result in
changes to the reporting and disclosure of leases. Management is in the process of
evaluating the impact on the Organization.
Subsequent Events
The Organization entered into an asset purchase agreement in March 2019 to sell one of its
properties to an unrelated third party. The transaction is estimated to be completed mid2019. In preparing these financial statements, the Organization has considered events and
transactions that have occurred through April 15, 2019, the date the financial statements
were available to be issued.

NOTE 2

LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY
As part of the Organization’s liquidity management plan, cash in excess of daily
requirements are invested in investments as described in Note 4.
Under the terms of the various financing agreements, the Organization has agreed to certain
debt covenant restrictions. The Organization is required to meet certain financial and
operating covenants including maintaining a minimum level of days cash on hand.
Accordingly, a portion of the financial assets available for use within one year reported
below is required to be maintained by the Organization to comply with the minimum level of
days cash on hand required at certain facilities.
As of December 31, 2018, the Organization was in compliance with bond covenants as they
relate to accounting matters under various financing agreements more fully described in
Note 6. Financial assets available for general expenditures within one year of the balance
sheet date consist of the following:
2018
Financial Assets at Year-End:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable
Assets Limited to Use:
Resident Funds
Funds Held Under Bond and Mortgage Agreements
Funds Held Under Subsidized Housing Mortgage
Workers' Compensation Reserve Funds
Letter of Credit Collateral Investment
Investments
Investments in Perpetual Trust
Notes Receivable
Total Financial Assets
(26)

$ 14,992,156
13,894,149
2,973,301
12,526,705
1,965,128
1,500,000
52,394
39,282,013
2,422,511
1,050,361
90,658,718
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NOTE 2

LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY (CONTINUED)
2018
Less Amounts Not Available to be Used Within One Year:
Resident Funds
Funds Held Under Bond and Mortgage Agreements
Funds Held Under Subsidized Housing Mortgage
Workers' Compensation Reserve Funds
Letter of Credit Collateral Investment
Investments
Investments in Perpetual Trust
Notes Receivable
Total Financial Assets Available for
Use Within One Year

$ (2,973,301)
(2,610,427)
(1,785,061)
(690,000)
(52,394)
(1,971,733)
(2,422,511)
(1,000,000)
$ 77,153,291

The Organization has assets limited to use for debt service, mortgage related escrows,
future repair and replacement of the Organization’s facilities, insurance reserves and
subject to donor restrictions. Additionally, resident funds are restricted for resident use.
These assets limited to use, which are more fully described in Note 3, are not available for
general expenditure within the next year and are not reflected in the amounts above.
NOTE 3

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
The Organization is required to hold funds in various accounts based upon terms in the
indenture of trust of the various bond issuances. In addition, the organizations operated
under HUD are required to deposit funds into the required escrow, reserve for replacement
and residual receipt accounts. Assets limited as to use that are available for obligations
classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. The Organization was required
to maintain the following accounts:
Funds Held Under Bond and Mortgage Indenture Agreements
Bond Service Funds
Bond service funds have been established for the Organization to deposit monthly
amounts necessary to pay semi-annual principal and interest on the bonds. The
Organization sold a nursing home and market rate housing site located in Chisago City,
Minnesota in December 2017. Sales proceeds in the amount of $3.2 million are included
in bond service funds and were used to pay down debt at Abiitan Mill City in 2018.
Bond Reserve Funds
Bond reserve funds have been established to provide a reserve for payment of principal
and interest on the bonds in the event the Organization's principal and interest payments
are insufficient to meet debt service requirements.
Bond Repair and Replacement Funds
Bond repair and replacement funds have been established to provide for repair and
replacement of property funded by revenue bonds.
(27)
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NOTE 3

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE (CONTINUED)
Funds Held Under Bond and Mortgage Indenture Agreements (Continued)
Bond Construction Funds
Bond construction funds have been established to hold bond proceeds temporarily for
capital project expenditures. At December 31, 2018, $4.1 million of sales proceeds
related to the sale of the Chisago City, Minnesota property are included in bond
construction funds and will be used for capital investment into Ecumen owned properties
during 2019.
Capital Interest Funds
Capital interest funds have been established to provide funds for interest costs during
the construction and startup operations financed through a bond issuance.
Working Capital Funds
Working capital funds have been established to provide funds for operations during the
startup operations financed through a bond issuance.
Funds Held Under Subsidized Housing Mortgage
Various escrow and reserve funds have been established under subsidized housing
mortgage loan agreements. The funds accumulate in accordance with regulatory and loan
agreements for payment of real estate taxes, insurance, building and equipment repairs
and replacements, and surplus cash of the HUD projects. Withdrawals from the HUD
mortgage escrow, reserve for replacement and residual receipts require HUD approval.
Workers’ Compensation Reserve Funds
The provider of the Organization’s workers’ compensation policy requires funds to be held
in escrow as collateral for future workers’ compensation claims.
Letter of Credit Collateral
The Organization is required to maintain collateral related to a letter of credit held for the
benefit of a component of the variable rate long-term debt.
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NOTE 3

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE (CONTINUED)
Resident Funds and Deposits
The Organization holds, in trust, funds advanced by residents to be used at each resident’s
direction. The funds held in trust are maintained in separate interest bearing accounts. The
Organization also collects, as a condition of occupancy at its various senior housing
communities, security deposits that are refundable upon leaving the community. Abiitan Mill
City requires housing entry fees for admittance into the independent living units. The
entrance fee deposit amounts vary depending on the unit being rented and are 100%
refundable upon re-occupancy of the vacated unit. These funds were used to pay down
$3.7 million of Abiitan Mill City Debt in 2018. Cooperative member share payments
represent the owner’s initial down payment on their perspective unit.
Assets limited as to use are invested in the following at December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Fixed Income
Certificates of Deposit
Total Assets Limited as to Use

$

$

2018
15,232,491
3,552,475
232,562
19,017,528

$

$

2017
28,570,590
4,028,330
215,749
32,814,669

The assets limited as to use are included as follows on the consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
2018
Resident Funds:
Residents' Funds and Deposits
Residents' Refundable Entry Fee Deposits
Cooperative Member Share Deposits
Subtotal
Funds Held Under Bond and Mortgage
Indentures Agreements:
Bond Service Funds
Bond Reserve Funds
Bond Repair and Replacement Funds
Bond Construction Funds
Capital Interest Fund
Working Capital Funds
Subtotal
Funds Held Under Subsidized Housing Mortgage:
Mortgage Escrow Funds
Reserve for Replacement Funds
Residual Receipts Funds
Tax and Insurance Escrows
Subtotal
Worker's Compensation Reserve Funds
Letter of Credit Collateral - Investments
Total Assets Limited as to Use
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$

$

1,613,793
809,356
550,152
2,973,301

2017
$

1,329,084
4,481,308
5,733,174
11,543,566

2,326,798
2,057,558
2,542,113
4,107,522
1,492,714
12,526,705

7,717,307
2,556,845
2,936,372
3,437,343
268,558
799,816
17,716,241

49,526
1,410,554
325,082
179,966
1,965,128
1,500,000
52,394
19,017,528

51,109
1,225,763
307,644
182,302
1,766,818
1,500,000
288,044
32,814,669

$
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NOTE 4

INVESTMENTS
The fair value of investments is estimated based upon quoted market prices for those or
similar investments. Investment portfolios consisted of the following at December 31, 2018
and 2017:
2018
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Fixed Income
Equity Securities
Mutual Funds
Investment in Joint Venture
Total

Fair Value
$
4,541,128
11,513,863
21,362,833
1,673,790
190,399
$ 39,282,013

$

$

2017
Cost
4,541,128
12,018,276
22,138,678
1,910,568
190,399
40,799,049

Fair Value
$
486,753
9,010,573
21,988,670
1,620,977
185,445
$ 33,292,418

$

$

Cost
486,753
8,806,426
18,983,568
1,654,426
185,445
30,116,618

The Organization records other investments at the lower of cost or market under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The total unrealized loss on trading securities held at December 31, 2018 was $1.5 million,
compared to an unrealized gain of $3.2 million at December 31, 2017.
Investment income earned during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was from
the following:
Interest and Dividend Income
Net Realized Gain on Investments
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investments
Total Investment Income

NOTE 5

$

$

2018
1,337,464
1,007,035
(4,247,963)
(1,903,464)

$

$

2017
775,708
414,552
3,262,207
4,452,467

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following at
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
2018
20,447,711
310,759,228
29,558,987
26,627,539
387,393,465
(140,565,712)
$ 246,827,753

Land and Improvements
Buildings and Improvements
Furniture and Equipment
Construction in Progress
Total
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Property and Equipment

$

2017
17,607,142
304,354,556
27,898,257
1,794,557
351,654,512
(127,958,478)
$ 223,696,034
$

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $12.6 million
and $13.7 million, respectively
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NOTE 5

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Construction in progress consisted of the following significant on-going projects:
St. Paul Cooperative
The Organization began pre-sales for its cooperative project located in St Paul, Minnesota
in early 2016. The cost of this 49-unit project is expected to be $14.6 million and will be
financed with external debt and member share payments. The land was purchased in late
2016 and was financed as part of the initial endorsement of the project in first quarter 2018.
The project will ultimately be owned by its members once substantially all membership units
are sold. As of December 31, 2018, 49 priority reservation deposits have been received and
have been converted to subscription agreements. The member share deposits are reported
in resident funds and deposits as an asset limited in use. Construction is expected to be
completed in the spring of 2019 at which time financing will be finalized and ownership will
pass to members. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, approximately $14.6 and $0.8 million,
respectively, is included in construction in progress related to this project.
Apple Valley Cooperative
The Organization began pre-sales for its cooperative project located in Apple Valley,
Minnesota in early 2016. The cost of this 58-unit project is expected to be $18.8 million and
will be financed with external debt and member share payments. The project will ultimately
be owned by its members once substantially all membership units are sold. As of
December 31, 2018, 45 priority reservation deposits have been received and have been
converted to subscription agreements. The member share deposits are reported in resident
funds and deposits as an asset limited in use. Construction is expected to be completed in
the summer of 2019, at which time financing will be finalized and ownership will pass to
members. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, approximately $10.0 million and $0.2 million,
respectively, is included in construction in progress related to this project.
Duluth Cooperative
The Organization began pre-sales for its cooperative project located in Duluth, Minnesota in
late 2018. The cost of this 51-unit project is expected to be $18.3 million and will be
financed with external debt and member share payments. The land is currently owned by
Ecumen and the project will purchase it as part of the initial endorsement of the project in
late 2019. The project will ultimately be owned by its members once substantially all
membership units are sold. As of December 31, 2018, 20 priority reservation deposits have
been received. The conversion from priority reservation deposits to subscription
agreements is expected to occur in late-2019. The reservation deposits are reported in
resident funds and deposits as an asset limited in use. Construction will begin upon initial
endorsement of the financing and is expected to be completed in the spring of 2020, at
which time financing will be finalized and ownership will pass to members. At December 31,
2018, approximately $0.2 million is included in construction in progress related to this
project.
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NOTE 5

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Stillwater Cooperative
The Organization began pre-sales for its cooperative project located in Stillwater,
Minnesota in late 2018. The cost of this 60-unit project is expected to be $21.8 million and
will be financed with external debt and member share payments. The land was purchased
by Ecumen in June of 2018 for $0.9 million and will be financed by the project in mid-2019.
The project will ultimately be owned by its members once substantially all membership units
are sold. As of December 31, 2018, 20 priority reservation deposits have been received.
The conversion from priority reservation deposits to subscription agreements is expected to
occur in mid-2019. The reservations deposits are reported in resident funds and deposits as
an asset limited in use. Construction will begin upon initial endorsement of the financing
and is expected to be completed in the summer of 2020, at which time financing will be
finalized and ownership will pass to members. At December 31, 2018, approximately $0.3
million is included in construction in progress related to this project.
Other
The Organization has also incurred construction costs related to the planned development
of new building projects, as well as planned renovations and remodeling of existing nursing
facilities and senior housing projects.

NOTE 6

LONG-TERM DEBT
The Organization's long-term debt at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is summarized below:
Description
Fixed Rate Debt (1)
Fixed Rate HUD Debt (2)
Private Placement Reset Debt (3)
Variable Rate Debt (4)
Subsidized HUD Debt (5)
Flexible Subsidy Assistance Loan (6)
HUD Capital Advances (7)
Subtotal
Cooperative HUD Debt (8)
Total Long-Term Debt
Less: Current Maturities
Less: Unamortized Bond (Premium) Discount
Less: Unamortized Financing Costs
Long-Term Portion
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$

$

2018
109,574,440
71,498,772
41,425,073
10,543,804
5,947,654
862,825
9,931,202
249,783,770
16,206,043
265,989,813
9,551,325
(73,278)
6,205,832
250,305,934

$

$

2017
111,805,000
71,991,384
43,221,546
14,707,995
6,113,549
862,825
9,931,202
258,633,501
258,633,501
12,067,126
24,344
5,487,264
241,054,767
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NOTE 6

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
(1) Fixed rate debt has interest rates ranging from 1.25% - 6.25%, with monthly and semiannual principal and interest payments due through maturity from 2019 through 2050.
During 2018, the Organization refinanced $6.2 million of loans on Ecumen Second
Century Project, Series 2010, lowering interest rates from 6.04% to 4.33%. The
reduced interest rates will result in annual cash flow savings of approximately $0.1
million. During 2017, the Organization refinanced $5.3 million of loans on Ecumen
Headquarters and The Seasons at Maplewood, Series 2010, and $5.1 million of loans
on The Seasons at Apple Valley, Series 2010, lowering the interest rates from 6.22%
and 6.67%, respectively, to a combined 4.47%. The reduced interest rates will result in
annual cash flow savings of approximately $0.1 million.
(2) Fixed Rate HUD Debt has fixed interest rates that range from 2.94% - 9.25%, with
monthly and semi-annual principal and interest payments due through maturity from
2027 through 2053.
(3) Private placement reset debt has interest rates ranging from 1.00% - 4.88%, with
monthly principal and interest due through maturity from 2032 through 2038. These
debt obligation interest rates typically reset every five years based upon the terms of
the loan agreements. During 2017, the Organization paid off $5.5 million in private
placement reset debt on Ecumen Properties, Inc., as a part of the sale of a nursing
home and assisted living community in Alexandria, Minnesota. For additional
information on the sale, refer to Note 10 Disposition of Property. During 2017 the
Organization modified the Notes on Uptown Maple Commons to reduce the interest
rates from 8.1% and 7.1% to 4.9%. The reduced interest rates will not result in annual
cash flow savings, but will allow faster repayment which will reduce the term of the
Notes.
(4) Variable rate debt has a variable interest rate that is determined by the issuer on a
weekly or monthly basis, and is indexed to a current short-term market rate. Monthly
principal and interest payments are due through maturity from 2019 through 2036. The
interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 ranged from 0.92% - 4.20%.
Included in the variable rate debt is an $8.5 million taxable revenue note entered into
in 2015 that was paid in full in January 2018. Also included in the variable rate debt is
$6.5 million and $6.6 million of bonds at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
for which the Organization has entered into a reimbursement agreement with Fannie
Mae, which has a direct pay irrevocable transferable credit enhancement instrument
(“credit enhancement”) for the face amount of the bonds. This credit enhancement
term extends until 2036. Also included in variable rate debt is $2.1 million and
$2.2 million of variable rate demand bonds at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. By definition, a variable rate demand bond is a long-term tax-exempt
bond, the interest of which is indexed to a current short-term market. There is an
irrevocable letter of credit for the face amount of the bonds that is renewed annually in
June, and currently expires in June 2019. Based upon the terms of the reimbursement
agreement for the letter of credit, 25% of a draw upon the letter of credit will need to be
repaid within two days of the draw, with the remaining balance due in monthly
installments based on a 20-year amortization. Also included in variable rate debt is
$2.0 million and less than $0.1 million of a revolving line of credit at December 31,
(33)
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LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
2018 and 2017, respectively. During 2017, the Organization entered into a $4.0 million
revolving line of credit with a two year term and an interest rate indexed to a current
short-term market rate, with a 3% floor and 5% cap. During 2018, the Organization
entered into a second $4.0 million revolving line of credit with a two year term and an
interest rate indexed to a current short-term market rate, with no interest rate floor or
cap. There is no balance on this revolving line of credit as of December 31, 2018.
(5) Subsidized HUD Debt has fixed interest rates ranging from 3.0% - 3.67%, with monthly
principal and interest payments due through maturity from 2043 through 2044.
(6) The Flexible Subsidy Assistance loan is an agreement with HUD for funds for repairs,
replacements, and improvements of a HUD senior apartment facility. The loan
agreement calls for a loan of up to $862,825. The loan carries an annual interest rate
of 1%. The Flexible Subsidy Assistance loan became due in 2018 when the current
mortgage matured. The Organization submitted a proposal to HUD to defer repayment
of the loan over a 30 year term. The balance of this loan will be classified as current
until the terms of proposal to defer repayment have been approved by HUD.
(7) Four of the HUD senior apartments were participants in a capital advance program
with the Department of Housing and Urban Development. Under this program, the
capital advances bear no interest and repayment is not required so long as the
housing remains available for very low-income, elderly persons, for a period of at least
40 years. Noncompliance would result in HUD billing the facilities for the entire capital
advances plus interest at rates varying from 5.375% to 7.0%.
(8) Cooperative HUD Debt in 2018 consists of two HUD subsidized multifamily loans for
the Zvago Cooperative at Saint Anthony Park and the Zvago Cooperative at Central
Village. The interest rates are 3.73% and 3.99%, respectively, and the loans both
mature in 2059. During 2018, $10.4 million was drawn for construction out of a
$14.6 million mortgage for the Zvago Cooperative at Saint Anthony Park and $5.8
million was drawn for construction out of a $15.9 million mortgage for the Zvago
Cooperative at Central Village. In 2019, the Organization anticipates that the
ownership interest in the Cooperatives and all corresponding assets, liabilities and
equity will be transferred to the Cooperative shareholders. For additional information
on the Cooperative projects refer to Note 5 Property and Equipment.
Substantially all of the Organization’s property, equipment, and assets, plus the assignment
of rents and income contracts, is pledged as collateral for the above. The Organization is
also subject to various covenants under many of the bond, loan, and mortgage agreements.
Interest expense during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $10.2 million
and $10.9 million, respectively.
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LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
Scheduled principal payments on long-term debt are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Later Years
Total

$

$

Amount
9,551,325
6,471,706
6,685,734
6,995,869
7,140,710
212,938,426
249,783,770

Under the terms of the bond indentures, the Organization is required to maintain certain
deposits with respective trustees that are recorded as Assets Limited as to Use on the
consolidated balance sheets.
Unamortized Financing Costs
Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are capitalized and
amortized over the term of the related indebtedness. Unamortized financing costs at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $6.2 million and $5.5 million, respectively. Amortization
expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $0.3 million.
NOTE 7

LEASES
Capital Leases
The Organization entered into a capital lease agreement with the Litchfield Economic
Authority for a building and equipment which houses the Emmaus Place Community. The
building and equipment and the capital lease obligation are recorded on the consolidated
financial statements. The term of the lease is from October 31, 1997 to February 1, 2022,
bears interest at 5.5% with monthly payments from $16,000 to $19,000.
In February 2011, the Organization entered into an agreement with the City of Litchfield to
issue new City of Litchfield General Obligation (GO) bonds and amend the existing capital
lease agreement with the Litchfield Economic Authority for the purpose of refinancing the
existing GO bonds, providing funds for converting 14 assisted living units into 11 memory
care units at Bethany Assisted Living and funding improvements at Emmaus Place. The
new capital lease agreement includes both Emmaus Place and Bethany Assisted Living.
The final maturity on the bonds and capital lease agreements will remain February 1, 2022,
when ownership reverts back to the Organization. The new lease agreement bears interest
between 2.0% and 3.4% with monthly payments from $26,000 to $28,000.
In addition, the Organization has other minor capital leases for copiers and other
equipment.
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LEASES (CONTINUED)
The estimated future minimum lease payments on all capital leases are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Later Years
Total

Principal
290,000
290,000
305,000
320,000
$
1,205,000
$

$

$

Interest
33,328
24,990
15,760
5,440
79,518

Total
323,328
314,990
320,760
325,440
1,284,518

$

$

Depreciation expense on capital leases amounted to $0.2 million in both of the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017. At December 31, 2018, the cost of equipment and
accumulated depreciation was $4.4 million and $2.9 million, respectively, relating to leased
assets. At December 31, 2017, the cost of equipment and accumulated depreciation was
$4.4 million and $2.7 million, respectively, relating to leased assets.
NOTE 8

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Organization uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. The following table presents
the fair value hierarchy for the balances of the assets of the Organization measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Level 1
Assets:
Investments:
Fixed Income
Equity Securities
Mutual Funds
Assets Limited as to Use:
Fixed Income
Beneficial Interest in
Perpetual Trusts
Total Assets

Assets:
Investments:
Fixed Income
Equity Securities
Mutual Funds
Assets Limited as to Use:
Fixed Income
Beneficial Interest in
Perpetual Trusts
Total Assets

$

Level 2

-

$ 11,513,863
21,362,833
1,673,790

3,552,475

-

3,552,475

$ 21,362,833

$ 16,740,128

2,422,511
2,422,511

2,422,511
$ 40,525,472

Level 1

Level 2

$

21,362,833
-

$ 11,513,863
1,673,790

-

2018
Total

Level 3

21,988,670
-

$

9,010,573
1,620,977

-

4,028,330

$ 21,988,670

$ 14,659,880

(36)

$

$

2017
Total

Level 3

$

$

-

$

9,010,573
21,988,670
1,620,977

-

4,028,330

2,724,422
2,724,422

2,724,422
$ 39,372,972
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following table presents changes in assets measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs
on a recurring basis for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Beneficial Interest Perpetual Trusts
Balance at January 1, 2018
Total Gains (Realized or Unrealized) for the Year Included in:
Interest and Dividend Income
Unrealized Loss
Purchases, Sales, Issuances and Settlements, Net
Balance at December 31, 2018

$

2,724,422

$

111,719
(235,807)
(177,823)
2,422,511

Balance at January 1, 2017
Total Gains (Realized or Unrealized) for the Year Included in:
Interest and Dividend Income
Unrealized Gain
Purchases, Sales, Issuances and Settlements, Net
Balance at December 31, 2017

$

2,450,462

$

63,787
346,135
(135,962)
2,724,422

Trading Securities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value measurement
is based upon quoted prices, if available. If quoted prices are not available, fair values are
measured using independent pricing models or other model-based valuation techniques
such as the present value of future cash flows, adjusted for the security’s credit rating,
prepayment assumptions, and other factors such as credit loss assumptions. Securities
valued using Level 1 inputs include those traded on an active exchange, such as the New
York Stock Exchange, as well as U.S. treasury and other U.S. government and agency
mortgage-backed securities that are traded by dealers or brokers in active over-the-counter
markets. Securities valued using Level 2 inputs include private collateralized mortgage
obligations, municipal bonds, mutual funds, and corporate debt securities.
Securities valued using Level 3 inputs include the Organization’s beneficial interest in
perpetual trusts which is valued based on the present value of future cash flows from the
underlying investments. Gains and losses on the beneficial interest in perpetual trusts are
shown as permanently restricted change in investments in perpetual trusts on the
consolidated statement of changes in net assets. The significant unobservable input used in
the fair value measurement of the beneficial interest in perpetual trust is their allocated
portion of the underlying trust assets. Significant changes in this input could result in a
significant change in the fair value measurement.
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CLASSIFICATION OF NET ASSETS
Net assets with donor restrictions are comprised of the following at December 31, 2018 and
2017:
HUD Capital Grants
Capital Projects and Renovations
Residence Care and Other Services
Perpetual Trusts
Perpetual Endowment Funds Required to be Retained
Total

$

$

2018
1,396,959
1,450,914
523,678
2,422,511
705,438
6,499,500

$

$

2017
1,526,423
2,187,624
520,341
2,724,422
1,036,538
7,995,348

Net assets with donor restrictions, other than the perpetual trusts and perpetual endowment
funds, are restricted for purposes temporary in nature as described above.
Net assets are released from donor restrictions by expending funds for the intended
purpose, the passage of time, or by occurrence of other events as specified by donors. Net
assets of $1.1 million and $0.7 million were released from restrictions for operating
purposes for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net assets of
$0.3 million were released for the purchase of property and equipment for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Perpetual Trusts
The Organization is the beneficiary of trust funds for which the assets are to be held in
perpetuity per donor restriction. The current market value of the original trusts are shown as
net assets with donor restrictions as they are not available for distribution. Investment
income earned on the trust funds is recorded as net assets without donor restrictions. The
Organization is not the trustee for these perpetual trusts.
Permanent Endowments
The Organization’s endowments, other than perpetual trusts, were established by donors
for which income is expendable to pay for general operating expenses, special community
programs, provide scholarships and continuing support of the Organization’s ministry and
vision, and is included in the investment accounts of the Organization. As required by
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), net assets associated with endowment
funds, including designated by the board of directors as to function as endowments, are
classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Interpretation of Relevant Law
The State of Minnesota’s State Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (the Act)
was effective August 1, 2008. The board of directors of the Organization has interpreted the
Act as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the
donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. The
Organization’s perpetual trusts are not covered by the Act as the Organization is not the
trustee of these trusts.
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NOTE 9

CLASSIFICATION OF NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Interpretation of Relevant Law (Continued)
As a result of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (1) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (2) the original
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (3) accumulations to the
permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift
instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund.
The remaining portion of donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified as
permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until
those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent
with the standard of prudence prescribed in the Act. The Organization considers the
following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted
endowment funds:








The duration and preservation of the fund
The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions
The possible effect of inflation and deflation
The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
Other resources of the organization
The investment policies of the organization

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
consisted of the following:
Without Donor
Restrictions
Endowment Net Assets,
January 1, 2018

$

Investment Return:
Investment Income
Net Depreciation (Realized and
Unrealized)
Total Investment Return
Contributions
Appropriation of Endowment
Assets for Expenditure
Endowment Net Assets,
December 31, 2018

471,307

With Donor
Restrictions
$

(83,114)
(83,114)
-

388,193

(39)

1,036,538

$

23,141

(106,254)

(189,368)
(166,227)
-

(247,987)
$

1,507,845

23,141

-

$

2018
Total

705,438

(247,987)
$

1,093,631

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTE 9

CLASSIFICATION OF NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Interpretation of Relevant Law (Continued)
Without Donor
Restrictions
Endowment Net Assets,
January 1, 2017

$

Investment Return:
Investment Income
Net Appreciation (Realized and
Unrealized)
Total Investment Return
Contributions
Appropriation of Endowment
Assets for Expenditure
Endowment Net Assets,
December 31, 2017

310,464

With Donor
Restrictions
$

1,037,594

$

1,348,058

-

16,583

16,583

160,843
160,843
-

144,260

305,103
321,686
-

-

$

2017
Total

471,307

(161,899)
$

1,036,538

(161,899)
$

1,507,845

Funds with Deficiencies
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor restricted funds
may fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA requires the Organization to retain as a
fund of perpetual duration. No such deficiencies existed at December 31, 2018 or 2017.
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters
The Organization has adopted an investment policy for their investment funds, including the
permanent endowments that attempt to provide a total return (yield plus capital
appreciation) necessary at least to preserve, and enhance the principal of the assets, and
at the same time, provide a dependable and growing source of income for current
requirements of any designated funds. Endowment assets include those assets of donorrestricted funds that the Organization must hold in perpetuity. Under this policy, as
approved by the board of directors, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to produce results that provide a predictive and dependable source of income.
Strategies Employed for Achieving Results
To satisfy its capital appreciation and expected results, the Organization relies on a total
return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation
(realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The Organization
targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis on equities, including
mutual funds and fixed income investments to achieve its objectives within the risk
constraints.
Spending Policy
The Organization has a policy, based upon the intent of the donor-restricted endowed
assets, to spend the earnings from the endowment fund for general operating expenses,
special community programs, provide scholarships and continuing support of the
Organization’s ministry and vision.
(40)
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NOTE 10

DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY
The Organization sold a skilled nursing home and market rate housing project located in
Alexandria, Minnesota and a skilled nursing home and market rate housing project located
in Chisago City, Minnesota on December 29, 2017 for $17.8 million, net of selling costs.
Current and Long-term Debt at December 31, 2016 included $5.5 million in debt obligations
related to the sold operations that were repaid from sale proceeds. Proceeds of $9.3 million
were included in Assets Limited as to Use at December 31, 2017 to be used within two
years of the sale date to fund debt service and capital expenditures with respect to other
properties owned by affiliates of Ecumen. During the year ended December 31, 2018, $3.2
million of the proceeds were used to fund debt service and $2.0 million of the proceeds
were used to fund capital expenditures.
Accounts receivable at December 31, 2018 includes $0.03 million related to the operations
that were sold in December 2017. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2017 includes $2.3
million related to the sold operations.
The following table presents the operating activity related to the disposed operations that is
included in the consolidated statements of changes in net assets without donor restrictions
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Total Operating Revenues
Total Operating Expenses
Other Income
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets
Excess (Deficit) of Revenue Over Expense

$

$

2018
198,702
(311,900)
178,770
(137,565)
(71,993)

2017
$ 23,426,940
(22,637,133)
229,168
8,761,566
$
9,780,541

In addition, the Organization has incurred other minor disposals of property and equipment.
NOTE 11

RETIREMENT PLAN
The Organization provides defined contribution pension plans for its employees.
Participation in the plans is available to employees upon meeting certain eligibility
requirements. Contributions are based on defined or discretionary formulas. Contributions
to the plans by the Organization were $2.2 and $2.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Benefits payable upon retirement are
determined by the amount contributed by the employee and by the Organization on the
employee's behalf.
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NOTE 12

MANAGEMENT FEES FROM UNRELATED PARTIES
The Organization manages a number of unrelated third-party owned projects that are not
included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Organization has
entered into management agreements with the owners of these projects and has
recognized management fee revenue of $2.8 million and $2.6 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 from these agreements.
Under certain limited circumstances, the Organization has agreed to advance funds or
provide guarantees to cover operating shortfalls. Advances take the form of revolving lines
of credit. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Organization had advances or
guarantees outstanding of $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of which $0.1 million is
unsecured.
The staffing at certain of these managed projects are employees of the Organization. For
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Organization incurred payroll costs of
approximately $2.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively, that was reimbursed by the
managed project.

NOTE 13

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF EXPENSES
Functional classification of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 consisted of
the following:
Total

Program
Skilled
Nursing
Salaries

$

Payroll Taxes & Benefits
Contract Labor
Professional Fees
Advertising

Community

17,559,790

$

4,481,392

$

Management

Market

Subsidized

Ecumen

Program

and

Housing

Housing

Parent

Services

General

Fundraising

18,576,382

$

23,961,130

$

325,404

$

1,671,824

$

47,999,540

$

437,123

Total
$

67,013,045

5,459,606

1,141,683

5,184,207

101,731

365,540

12,252,767

4,448,613

90,301

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,531,209

-

16,791,681
1,531,209

4,966,757

1,206,131

3,793,540

180,193

283,254

10,429,875

3,496,452

148,462

14,074,789
1,255,585

5,993

-

-

-

8,894

14,887

1,240,698

-

Office Expense

192,647

116,125

422,206

51,017

17,995

799,990

315,031

8,410

1,123,431

Information & Technology

192,274

114,318

219,573

24,650

58,897

609,712

579,492

20,510

1,209,714

Occupancy

1,210,102

25,866

6,615,218

1,204,287

21,891

9,077,364

1,453,051

-

10,530,415

Travel

85,366

373,506

68,585

5,583

60,076

593,116

486,045

10,241

1,089,402

Conferences & Meetings

27,714

33,715

23,963

435

29,940

115,767

308,863

25,617

450,247

Interest & Amortization

1,501,956

-

8,478,789

356,378

11,168

10,348,291

159,188

-

10,507,479

Depreciation

2,167,623

39,016

8,580,918

1,151,633

56,181

11,995,371

632,786

-

12,628,157

12,704

998

-

-

13,621

27,323

1,115,826

-

1,143,149

4,449

75

4,089

506

6,350

15,469

259,058

2,483

277,010

Other

-

-

-

-

3,831

3,831

587,798

997

592,626

Bad Debt

-

-

-

12

-

12

468,590

1,517

470,119

16,557

1,245,075

4,432

-

31,793

1,297,857

472,923

-

1,770,780

4,909

2,358

10,584

746

944

19,541

181,203

-

200,744

958,794

-

-

-

-

958,794

-

-

958,794

4,512,827

667,769

3,228,250

8,174

-

8,417,020

-

-

8,417,020

233,707

4,310

148,933

424

27,240

414,614

483,838

2,451

900,903

77,358

-

280,006

83,862

-

441,226

66,681

-

507,907

Insurance
Dues& Subscriptions

Progam
License & Permits
Surcharge
Resident Care Supplies
Minor equipment & Rental
Cable TV
Gift Shop
Total Expenses

4,357
$

39,195,490

$

9,452,337

3,894
$

61,028,317
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$

3,495,035

$

2,669,439

8,251
$

115,840,618

$

36,863,727

$

748,112

8,251
$

153,452,457
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NOTE 13

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Functional classification of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 consisted of
the following:
Program
Management and General Support
Total Expenses

$
$

2017
146,652,621
21,351,225
168,003,846

Fundraising expenses of $0.7 million and $0.6 million years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 respectively are included with net fundraising income on the consolidated statements
of unrestricted activities. Salaries and related expenses are allocated based on job
descriptions and the best estimates of management. Expenses, other than salaries and
related expenses, which are not directly identifiable by program or supporting service are
allocated based on the best estimates of management.
NOTE 14

INSURANCE AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Workers' Compensation Insurance
The Organization purchases a Large Deductible Workers' Compensation policy. A
$1.5 million escrow account provides collateral funding for the workers’ compensation
program. The Organization has estimated reserves and recorded liabilities for outstanding
claims of approximately $0.9 million and $.8 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, which is included in Other Current Liabilities and Other Liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.
The Organization's provision for outstanding losses, although supported by actuarial
projections and other data, is ultimately based on management's expectations of future
events. It is possible that these estimates could change as more detailed information
concerning the losses is received and the effect of such changes could be material to the
financial statements.
Employee Health and Dental Insurance
The Organization has a self-insured health and dental insurance plan and has contracted
with an administrative service company to supervise and administer the programs. The
Organization contracts separately to insure for excessive or unexpected claims through a
stop-loss agreement. The stop-loss agreement covers medical claims in excess of
$0.2 million per individual and $10.5 million in aggregate. Claims in excess of these
amounts will be funded by the stop loss carrier. A liability of approximately $0.7 million and
$0.9 million was recorded in other current liabilities at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, related to claims incurred but not reported.
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NOTE 15

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Government Regulations – Medicaid
The Minnesota Department of Human services reserves the right to perform audit
examinations of the records of the long-term health care facilities. Any adjustments
resulting from such an examination could retroactively adjust Medicaid revenue.
Government Regulations – Medicare
The Medicare intermediary has the authority to audit the licensed nursing facilities’ records
any time within a three-year period after the date Ecumen receives a final notice of program
reimbursement for each cost reporting period. Any adjustments resulting from the audit
process could retroactively adjust Medicare revenue.
Litigation
The Organization is subject to asserted and unasserted claims encountered in the normal
course of business. The Organization's management and legal counsel assess such
contingent liabilities and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In
assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against the
Organization or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Organization's
legal counsel evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims
as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought
therein. In the opinion of management, disposition of these matters will not have a material
effect on the Organization's financial condition or results of operations.
Health Care
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations by federal, state, and
local governments. These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited to,
matters such as licensure, accreditation, government health care program participation
requirements, reimbursement for resident services, and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and
abuse. Recently, government activity has increased with respect to investigations and
allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse statutes and regulations by
health care providers. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in expulsion
from government health care programs together with the imposition of significant fines and
penalties, as well as significant repayments for patient services previously billed.
Management is not aware of any violations of these laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Board of Trustees
Ecumen and Subsidiaries
Shoreview, Minnesota
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ecumen and Subsidiaries as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and our report thereon dated April 15, 2019, which expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements, appears on pages 1 and 2. Our audits were
conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The
supplementary schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the December 31,
2018 and 2017 consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, as a whole.
We also have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the consolidated balance sheets of Ecumen and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016,
and the related consolidated statements of changes in net assets without donor restrictions, changes in net
assets, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016 (none of which is presented herein), and we
expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. That audit was conducted for
purposes of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The supplementary
information for the year ended December 31, 2016 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the December 31, 2016 consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of those consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information for the year ended
December 31, 2016 is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements
from which it has been derived.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 15, 2019
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS – BY SEGMENT
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017, AND 2016
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

2018
OPERATING REVENUES BY SEGMENT
Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Based Services
Management and Consulting

$

Total Revenue
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BY SEGMENT
Nursing Homes
Market Rate Housing
Subsidized Housing
Community Based Services
Corporate Services (Net of Management and
Consulting Revenue)
Loss from Operations

45,752,529
76,565,527
4,212,986
13,298,589
8,338,539

2017
$

64,475,167
77,201,057
4,304,038
10,507,950
5,438,132

2016
$

68,293,692
74,843,344
4,178,742
9,954,821
6,188,801

$ 148,168,170

$ 161,926,344

$ 163,459,400

$

$

$

1,672,435
1,661,708
(444,830)
1,701,852

1,378,976
602,081
(522,889)
93,660

1,815,648
3,416,269
(880,501)
(870,186)

(9,127,340)
(4,536,175)

(7,629,330)
(6,077,502)

(5,765,643)
(2,284,413)

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Net Fundraising Income
Investment Income (Expense)
Loss on Debt Refinancing
Other Income
Total Other Income and Expense

410,731
(1,903,464)
(545,288)
2,201,248
163,227

306,591
4,452,467
(915,410)
9,289,615
13,133,263

609,795
2,104,093
(498,840)
558,863
2,773,911

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

(4,372,948)

7,055,761

489,498

309,916

367,906

Net Assets Released from Restriction Purchase of Property and Equipment

333,006

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

$

(46)

(4,039,942)

$

7,365,677

$

857,404

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Combined Ecumen
Operations
Before
Subsidized Housing

Ecumen
Services

Ecumen
Foundation

Eliminations

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

$

21,574,356
10,269,315
10,313,020
725,658
42,882,349

$

(6,831,379)
550,152
3,555,978
114,987
(2,610,262)

$

$

15,611,381
(10,269,315)
5,342,066

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

202,301,068

29,412,689

-

(33,052)

14,003,825
3,966,576
35,162,555
2,422,511
1,050,361
56,605,828

-

4,119,458
4,119,458

(13,356,523)
(3,966,576)
(17,323,099)

Total Assets

-

-

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Less: Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Noncurrent Assets Limited as to Use

OTHER ASSETS
Intercompany Receivables
Receivable from Foundation
Investments
Investment in Perpetual Trusts
Investment in Minority Interest
Notes Receivable, Net
Pledges Receivable, Net of Current Portion
Total Other Assets

1,160,404
(550,152)
610,252

(127,967)
36,388
(91,579)

-

$

307,131,311

$

27,412,679

$

4,027,879

$

$

8,713,232
1,856,762
15,533,295
26,103,289

$

13,398,591
13,398,591

$

12,470
12,470

$

(17,356,151)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt and
Capital Leases
Accrued Interest
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
OTHER LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Capital Leases, Less Current Maturities
Intercompany Payables
Funds Held for Others
Other Liabilities
Total Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

-

218,318,307
915,000
9,724,582
9,140,821
238,098,710

15,049,247
3,631,941
18,681,188

3,966,576
48,833
4,015,409

(13,356,523)
(3,966,576)
(17,323,099)

264,201,999

32,079,779

4,027,879

(17,323,099)

37,826,771
5,102,541
42,929,312

(4,667,100)
(4,667,100)

-

(33,052)
(33,052)

307,131,311
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$

27,412,679

$

4,027,879

$

(17,356,151)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Ecumen
Before Subsidized
Housing

$

14,615,010
10,819,467
13,868,998
877,033
40,180,508

Subsidized
Housing
Combined

$

16,771,785
(10,819,467)
5,952,318

Eliminations

377,146
433,120
25,151
13,062
848,479

$

2,245,743
(433,120)
1,812,623

231,680,705

15,147,048

647,302
39,282,013
2,422,511
1,050,361
43,402,187

-

$

321,215,718

$ 17,808,150

$

$

8,713,232
1,856,762
28,944,356
39,514,350

$

$

$

1,128,093
322,775
515,358
1,966,226

Total

-

$

14,992,156
11,252,587
13,894,149
890,095
41,028,987

-

19,017,528
(11,252,587)
7,764,941

-

246,827,753

(647,302)
(647,302)

39,282,013
2,422,511
1,050,361
42,754,885

(647,302)

$ 338,376,566

-

$

9,841,325
2,179,537
29,459,714
41,480,576

233,367,554
915,000
9,189,654
243,472,208

16,938,380
647,302
167,723
17,753,405

(647,302)
(647,302)

250,305,934
915,000
9,357,377
260,578,311

282,986,558

19,719,631

(647,302)

302,058,887

33,126,619
5,102,541
38,229,160

(3,308,440)
1,396,959
(1,911,481)

321,215,718

$ 17,808,150

$

(647,302)

29,818,179
6,499,500
36,317,679
$ 338,376,566
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ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Combined
Ecumen
Operations
Before Subsidized
Housing
REVENUE
Resident Service Revenue
Other Operating Revenue
Total Revenue

$

OPERATING EXPENSE
Operating Expense
Depreciation
Interest and Amortization
Total Operating Expense

133,508,033
11,755,436
145,263,469

Ecumen
Services
$

127,187,913
11,349,365
10,092,419
148,629,697

OPERATING LOSS

(3,366,228)

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Net Fundraising Income
Investment Income (Loss)
Loss on Debt Refinancing
Other Income (Expense)
Total Other Income and Expense

278,637
(1,914,908)
(545,288)
(157,119)
(2,338,678)

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE
OVER EXPENSE

(5,704,906)

Eliminations

7,841,533
7,841,533

$

8,380,809
127,159
58,682
8,566,650

(9,149,818)
(9,149,818)

(9,149,818)
(9,149,818)

(725,117)

-

5,712
5,712

-

(719,405)

-

Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment

333,006

-

-

Transfer of Net Assets

100,000

-

-

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

$
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(5,271,900)

$

(719,405)

$

-

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Ecumen
Before Subsidized
Housing
$

133,508,033
10,447,151
143,955,184

Subsidized
Housing
$

126,418,904
11,476,524
10,151,101
148,046,529

$

(456,501)
(456,501)

$

(456,501)
(456,501)

(444,830)

137,924,448
10,243,722
148,168,170

129,568,709
12,628,157
10,507,479
152,704,345

-

(4,536,175)

278,637
(1,909,196)
(545,288)
(157,119)
(2,332,966)

132,094
5,732
2,358,367
2,496,193

-

410,731
(1,903,464)
(545,288)
2,201,248
163,227

(6,424,311)

2,051,363

-

(4,372,948)

-

-

333,006

-

-

333,006
100,000

$

4,416,415
253,072
4,669,487

3,606,306
1,151,633
356,378
5,114,317

(4,091,345)

Total
Consolidated

Eliminations

(5,991,305)

(100,000)

$

1,951,363

$

-

$

(4,039,942)

(50)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

CDL Homes, LLC

Lakeshore, Inc.

Crest at
Lakeshore, LLC

$

$

$

Ecumen
Properties

Mankato Lutheran
Homes, Inc.

North Branch
Senior Living, LLC

$

$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

16,393,200
5,059,271
1,483,922
45,758
22,982,151

17,449,757
67,002
1,624,543
20,696
19,161,998

707,961
251,531
79,434
5,804
1,044,730

$ 18,572,670
22,775
18,595,445

16,544,729
61,900
881,747
48,273
17,536,649

1,144,844
220,384
946,039
51,558
2,362,825

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Less: Current Portion of Assets
Limited as to Use
Noncurrent Assets Limited as to Use

5,059,271

310,704

450,064

-

161,940

(5,059,271)
-

(67,002)
243,702

(251,531)
198,533

-

(61,900)
100,040

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

24,817,375

11,265,058

12,732,102

-

8,025,700

12,069,621

3,671
442,417
325,565
771,653

15,472
1,802,785
1,818,257

-

64,451
64,451

1,086,360
1,086,360

-

$ 18,659,896

$

26,748,749

$

15,238,674

$

$

380,017
23,945
866,821
1,270,783

$

403,189
42,431
635,786
1,081,406

OTHER ASSETS
Intercompany Receivables
Receivable from Foundation
Investments
Investments in Perpetual Trusts
Investment in Minority Interest
Notes Receivable, Net
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

$

48,571,179

$

32,489,015

$

13,975,365

$

684,829
561,476
1,056,030
2,302,335

$

632,589
43,574
1,048,716
1,724,879

$

325,353
45,308
192,400
563,061

1,026,612
(220,384)
806,228

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
and Capital Leases
Accrued Interest
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
OTHER LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Capital Leases, Less Current Maturities
Intercompany Payables
Other Liabilities
Total Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

1,687
1,687

27,298,946
60,712
27,359,658

14,548,585
14,548,585

14,723,046
70,676
14,793,722

-

6,832,236
14,491
6,846,727

15,351,462
231,540
15,583,002

29,661,993

16,273,464

15,356,783

1,687

8,117,510

16,664,408

18,141,205
767,981
18,909,186

14,397,293
1,818,258
16,215,551

(1,381,418)
(1,381,418)

18,658,209
18,658,209

18,364,252
266,987
18,631,239

(1,425,734)
(1,425,734)

48,571,179

$

32,489,015

(51)

$

13,975,365

$ 18,659,896

$

26,748,749

$

15,238,674

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Ecumen
Sunrise, LLC

$ 1,898,238
42,722
520,206
20,980
2,482,146

EverCare Senior Second Century
Living, LLC
Housing

$

6,895,513
530,992
837,737
15,097
8,279,339

$

4,055,419
142,367
257,470
39,194
4,494,450

Lakeview
Commons
Senior Living, LLC

Meadows of
Worthington, LLC

Owatonna Senior
Living, LLC

Pines of
Hutchinson, LLC

Regent at
Maplewood, LLC

$

$

$

$

$

5,417,654
296,415
183,664
3,811
5,901,544

5,926,934
155,761
91,949
3,809
6,178,453

2,476,444
62,873
41,207
1,897
2,582,421

2,438,747
42,607
32,235
2,513,589

397,424
349,880
182,846
66,378
996,528

99,268

530,992

142,367

685,755

155,761

62,873

42,607

566,238

(42,722)
56,546

(530,992)
-

(142,367)
-

(296,415)
389,340

(155,761)
-

(62,873)
-

(42,607)
-

(349,880)
216,358

3,507,028

16,223,306

10,932,590

6,424,729

8,296,761

3,838,027

3,325,544

21,588,863

30,040
30,040

-

552
552

-

9,535
9,535

4,760
4,760

-

510
510

$ 15,427,592

$

12,715,613

$

14,484,749

$

6,425,208

$

5,839,133

$

22,802,259

$

$

200,000
419,462
619,462

$

406,009
60,767
289,182
755,958

$

140,000
90,196
208,359
438,555

$

141,133
88,314
229,447

$

464,320
101,955
513,094
1,079,369

$ 6,075,760

$

24,502,645

$

$

585,000
271,965
737,446
1,594,411

133,072
9,166
368,261
510,499

950,813
172,753
534,694
1,658,260

3,060,451
3,060,451

16,030,384
7,063,766
23,094,150

12,929,856
12,929,856

6,033,327
6,033,327

10,215,465
10,215,465

5,919,725
5,919,725

3,447,225
3,447,225

24,827,207
272,686
25,099,893

3,570,950

24,688,561

14,588,116

6,652,789

10,971,423

6,358,280

3,676,672

26,179,262

838,924
552
839,476

6,062,824
6,062,824

3,503,791
9,535
3,513,326

62,168
4,760
66,928

2,162,461
2,162,461

(3,377,513)
510
(3,377,003)

2,474,770
30,040
2,504,810
$ 6,075,760

(185,916)
(185,916)
$

24,502,645

$ 15,427,592

$

12,715,613

$

(52)

14,484,749

$

6,425,208

$

5,839,133

$

22,802,259

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Ecumen
Mill City
Quarter, LLC

Regent at
Apple Valley, LLC

Ecumen Home
Health Care

Ecumen
Parent

Combined Ecumen
Operations
Before Subsidized
Housing

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Portion of Assets Limited as to Use
Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

$

ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Less: Current Portion of Assets
Limited as to Use
Noncurrent Assets Limited as to Use
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
OTHER ASSETS
Intercompany Receivables
Receivable from Foundation
Investments
Investments in Perpetual Trusts
Investment in Minority Interest
Notes Receivable, Net
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

252,409
356,184
99,466
65,855
773,914

$

(3,537,714)
1,234,300
18,174
20,944
(2,264,296)

$

3,016,901
2,278,662
8,167
5,303,730

$ (78,476,774)
1,395,126
730,944
307,437
(76,043,267)

$

21,574,356
10,269,315
10,313,020
725,658
42,882,349

887,551

3,291,858

-

2,137,520

15,611,381

(356,184)
531,367

(1,234,300)
2,057,558

-

(1,395,126)
742,394

(10,269,315)
5,342,066

19,426,879

33,413,012

344,138

6,070,335

202,301,068

-

-

730
505,538
506,268

13,934,973
1,871,392
35,162,555
294,161
1,050,361
52,313,442

14,003,825
3,966,576
35,162,555
2,422,511
1,050,361
56,605,828

$

20,732,160

$

33,206,274

$

6,154,136

$ (16,917,096)

$

307,131,311

$

489,594
117,812
416,172
1,023,578

$

430,000
268,555
1,177,454
1,876,009

$

1,072,233
1,072,233

$

$

8,713,232
1,856,762
15,533,295
26,103,289

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt
and Capital Leases
Accrued Interest
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
OTHER LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities
Capital Leases, Less Current Maturities
Intercompany Payables
Other Liabilities
Total Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

$

2,347,314
46,859
5,907,184
8,301,357

24,123,033
2,085,914
26,208,947

30,928,783
8,433,385
39,362,168

-

2,048,576
915,000
632,233
3,595,809

218,318,307
915,000
9,724,582
9,140,821
238,098,710

27,232,525

41,238,177

1,072,233

11,897,166

264,201,999

(6,500,365)
(6,500,365)

(8,031,903)
(8,031,903)

5,043,539
38,364
5,081,903

(30,979,816)
2,165,554
(28,814,262)

37,826,771
5,102,541
42,929,312

6,154,136

$ (16,917,096)

20,732,160

$

33,206,274

(53)

$

$

307,131,311

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Mankato
CDL Homes,
LLC

North Branch

Crest at

Ecumen

Lutheran

Senior

Lakeshore, Inc.

Lakeshore, LLC

Properties

Homes, Inc.

Living, LLC

$

$

REVENUE
Resident Service Revenue

$

Other Operating Revenue
Total Revenue

17,081,808

15,318,343

2,899,955

$

165,182

$

13,560,197

$

11,485,670

165,897

307,127

488,796

253

219,725

70,837

17,247,705

15,625,470

3,388,751

165,435

13,779,922

11,556,507

OPERATING EXPENSE
Operating Expenses

14,245,162

13,195,697

1,300,048

222,944

10,915,017

9,722,447

Depreciation

1,690,538

675,078

618,218

-

707,525

660,436

Interest and Amortization

1,473,067

551,027

630,470

-

299,906

603,110

17,408,767

14,421,802

2,548,736

222,944

11,922,448

10,985,993

1,203,668

840,015

(57,509)

1,857,474

570,514

Total Operating Expense
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

(161,062)

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Net Fundraising Income (Expense)

119,497

33,993

-

29,410

251,867

40,170

Investment Income (Loss)

71,239

84,249

670

1,006

(104,050)

3,389

Loss on Debt Refinancing

-

-

-

-

-

-

118,242

670

(81,176)

1,321,910

840,685

(5,276,070)

-

Other Income (Expense)

(110,850)

Total Other Income and Expense

79,886

-

(29,832)

-

(761)

584

(14,139)

147,056

29,420

2,004,530

599,934

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE
OVER EXPENSE
Transfer of Net Assets

(56,925)

(1,473,148)

-

35,782

-

3,173

(452,454)

Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

127,581

$

(5,229,665)

150,000

$

1,471,910

(54)

-

$

(632,463)

$

(56,925)

$

2,043,485

-

$

147,480

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

EverCare

Second

Lakeview
Commons

Meadows of

Owatonna

Pines of

Regent at

Ecumen

Senior

Century

Senior

Worthington,

Senior

Hutchinson,

Maplewood,

Sunrise, LLC

Living, LLC

Housing

Living, LLC

LLC

Living, LLC

LLC

LLC

$

5,392,081

$

$

8,082,079

$

4,920,782

$

4,875,437

$

2,209,473

$

1,869,125

$

7,076,191

15,314

62,248

54,443

40,291

43,305

26,744

69,273

5,406,288

12,747,991

8,144,327

4,975,225

4,915,728

2,252,778

1,895,869

7,145,464

4,350,713

11,235,480

6,842,057

4,373,152

2,877,891

1,417,465

1,119,380

5,346,870

328,167

914,675

635,498

407,896

599,930

247,248

147,330

931,572

116,131

866,388

696,302

210,351

467,688

280,987

125,717

968,288

4,795,011

13,016,543

8,173,857

4,991,399

3,945,509

1,945,700

1,392,427

7,246,730

307,078

503,442

568

719

13,288

4

595
-

611,277

(268,552)

(29,530)

(16,174)

970,219

31,741

17,066

18,679

5,583

10,536

889

3,771

362

(2,961)

(784)

(170)

(101,266)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(326,547)

5,945

9,752

398

723

13,883

(260,597)

(356,077)

(10,229)

979,971

307,476

504,165

(87,383)

-

375,873

273,307

732,332

-

-

275,908

(239,800)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,955

640,057

640,057

(348,997)

(10,000)

28,780

$

12,732,677

14,207

$

115,276

$

(82,770)

$

722,103

$

979,971

(55)

$

307,476

$

780,073

-

$

(327,183)

ECUMEN AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR
RESTRICTIONS –
NURSING HOMES AND HOUSING AND ALTERNATIVE CARE (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)

Regent at

Ecumen

Combined Ecumen
Operations

Ecumen

Apple Valley,

Mill City

Home

Ecumen

Before Subsidized

LLC

Quarter, LLC

Health Care

Parent

Housing

REVENUE
Resident Service Revenue

$

Other Operating Revenue
Total Revenue

6,967,751

$

2,808,213

$

13,293,664

$

2,769,405

$

133,508,033

122,059

185,693

4,925

9,864,299

11,755,436

7,089,810

2,993,906

13,298,589

12,633,704

145,263,469

OPERATING EXPENSE
Operating Expenses

5,428,830

3,363,262

11,557,721

19,673,777

127,187,913

Depreciation

752,169

1,168,769

39,016

825,300

11,349,365

Interest and Amortization

921,942

1,721,396

-

159,649

10,092,419

7,102,941

6,253,427

11,596,737

20,658,726

148,629,697

(3,259,521)

1,701,852

(8,025,022)

Total Operating Expense
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

(13,131)

(3,366,228)

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
Net Fundraising Income (Expense)

6,214

1,630

76,701

Investment Income (Loss)

1,858

29,145

(56,029)

Loss on Debt Refinancing

-

Other Income (Expense)

-

Total Other Income and Expense

(196,291)
3,000

(379,025)

278,637

(1,948,091)

(1,914,908)

-

-

(545,288)

-

5,463

(157,119)

(162,516)

20,672

(2,321,653)

(2,338,678)

(3,422,037)

1,722,524

(10,346,675)

(5,704,906)

8,072

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE
(5,059)

OVER EXPENSE
Transfer of Net Assets

67,638

529,475

-

5,251,157

100,000

-

-

39,820

12,432

333,006

Net Assets Released from Restrictions Purchase of Property and Equipment
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

$

62,579

$

(2,892,562)

(56)

$

1,762,344

$

(5,083,086)

$

(5,271,900)

